

ADVANCE CARE PLANNING IN AUSTRALIA

BACKGROUND PAPER 5

JUNE 2019

The Royal Commission into Aged Care Quality and Safety was established on 8 October 2018 by the Governor-General of the Commonwealth of Australia, His Excellency General the Honourable Sir Peter Cosgrove AK MC (Retd). Replacement Letters Patent were issued on 6 December 2018.

The Honourable Richard Tracey AM RFD QC and Ms Lynelle Briggs AO have been appointed as Royal Commissioners. They are required to provide an interim report by 31 October 2019, and a final report by 30 April 2020.

The Royal Commission intends to release consultation, research and background papers. This background paper has been prepared by the staff of the Office of the Royal Commission, for the information of Commissioners and the public. The views expressed in this paper are not necessarily the views of the Commissioners.

This paper was published on 20 June 2019.

© Commonwealth of Australia 2019

ISBN 978-1-925593-14-3 (online)

With the exception of the Coat of Arms and where otherwise stated, all material presented in this publication is provided under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International licence. For the avoidance of doubt, this means this licence only applies to material as set out in this document.



The details of the relevant licence conditions are available on the Creative Commons website as is the full legal code for the CC BY 4.0 licence www.creativecommons.org/licenses.

The terms under which the Coat of Arms can be used are detailed on the Department of the Prime Minister and Cabinet website www.dpmc.gov.au/government/commonwealth-coat-arms.

Contents

Introduction	1
What is advance care planning?	1
Components of advance care planning	2
Advance care plans	2
Advance directives	2
Substitute decision-makers	3
Advance directives and substitute decision-makers in each state and territory	3
Advance care planning in aged care	4
Benefits of advance care planning	4
Uptake of advance care planning	5
Improving advance care planning practice in aged care	6
Implementation of advance care plans	
The approach to advance care planning discussions	
Conclusion	8
Appendix	9
Australian Capital Territory	9
New South Wales	9
Northern Territory	9
Queensland	10
South Australia	10
Tasmania	
Victoria	11
Western Australia	11

Introduction

This paper provides a brief overview of the practice of advance care planning in Australia. It has been prepared by staff of the Office of the Royal Commission into Aged Care Quality and Safety but does not represent a direction or position of the Royal Commission in relation to advance care planning. Any views expressed are not necessarily the views of the Commissioners.

This paper provides a high-level description of the components of advance care planning, an overview of the practices in each state and territory and a brief explanation of advance care planning as it relates to aged care. It does not comprehensively examine the differences in advance care planning regimes in each state and territory, or their relative advantages or limitations.

This paper does not examine issues related to supported decision-making or decision-making capacity. Nor does it discuss arrangements for substitute decision-making made by a court or tribunal.

What is advance care planning?

Advance care planning is a process of pre-emptive discussions and planning that anticipates a future loss of ability to make or communicate decisions.¹ The practice reflects principles of autonomy, self-determination and dignity.² It originates from the United States where the practice developed in the 1970s in response to concerns that people who could not make or communicate their own decisions were not receiving end-of-life care consistent with their preferences.³

The objective of advance care planning is to guide future decision-making about a person's treatment and care so that it is consistent with their goals, preferences and values.⁴ The process helps health professionals and a person's family and friends know what kind of treatment and care the person would want in the future.

N O'Neill and C Peisah, 'Advance Directives', Capacity and the Law, 2018. Australian Government Department of Health and Ageing, A National Framework for Advance Care Directives, 2011, p 3.

³ G Yapp, C Sinclair, A Kelly, K Williams and M Agar, 'Planning for the rest-of-life, not end-of-life: Reframing advance care planning for people with dementia' in G Macdonald and J Mears (eds), Dementia as Social Experience: Valuing Life and Care, 2018, pp 134–155, p 134. Australian Government Department of Health and Ageing, above n 2, p 4.

R Sudore, H Lum, J You et al, 'Defining Advance Care Planning for Adults: A Consensus Definition from a Multidisciplinary Delphi Panel', *Journal of Pain Symptom Management*, 2017, Vol 53(5), pp 821–832.

Advance care planning in Australia

Australian Law Reform Commission, *Elder Abuse—A National Legal Response* (ALRC Report 131), p 53.

Components of advance care planning

Advance care plans

Advance care planning is a broad concept. It may take the form of structured conversations with health professionals or informal discussions with family and friends.⁵ Advance care planning does not always result in written documents.⁶ The conversations themselves can be very beneficial.⁷ Ideally though, advance care planning leads to a written *advance care plan* outlining a person's preferences for future health and personal care.⁸

Advance care plans are relied on only if a person loses their ability to make or express their own decisions.

Advance care plans may be a letter to the person responsible for the decision-making, an entry in a medical report, an oral instruction or any other form of communication.⁹ It may also take the form of a more formal document like an 'advance directive' or an instrument appointing a substitute decision-maker.

Advance directives

An advance directive is a formal document that records a person's directions for their future care and treatment. Advance directives are not the same as clinical care plans, treatment plans or resuscitation plans prepared by clinicians to guide clinical care. ¹⁰

Advance directives have traditionally been narrowly focused on specific medical treatment decisions. Increasingly, directives are including broader information about a person's values, goals and what is important to them in life.¹¹

Advance directives are recognised in all states and territories, though there are variations in terminology and scope. In the Australian Capital Territory, Northern Territory, Queensland, South Australia and Western Australia, advance directives are provided for in legislation. New South Wales and Tasmania do not have legislation providing for advance directives, but legally binding advance directives can still be made. All states and territories have specific forms that can be used to make an advance directive.

The differences between states and territories are explored further below.

.

⁵ G Yapp, C Sinclair, A Kelly, K Williams and M Agar, above n 3, p 135.

⁶ Ibid

K Buck, K Detering, A Pollard, M Sellars, R Ruseckaite, H Kelly, B White, C Sinclair and L Nolte, 'Concordance Between Self-reported Completion of Advance Care Planning Documentation and Availability of Documentation in Australian Health and Residential Aged Care Services', *Journal of Pain and Symptom Management*, 2019, https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/31029805, in press.

⁸ Australian Government Department of Health and Ageing, above n 2.

Productivity Commission, Introducing Competition and Informed User Choice into Human Services: Reforms to Human Services, Report No 85, 2017, p 125.

¹⁰ Australian Government Department of Health and Ageing, above n 2, p 9.

¹¹ K Buck, K Detering, M Sellars, R Ruseckaite, H Kelly and L Nolte, *2017 Prevalence of advance care planning documentation in Australian health and residential aged care services*, Short Report, 2018, p 3.

These advance directives are made under the common law. See *Hunter and New England Area Health Service v A* [2009] NSWSC 761.

Substitute decision-makers

In all states and territories, a person can appoint someone to make decisions on their behalf in the event they become unable to make their own decisions. This is known as a 'substitute decision-maker'.

Substitute decision-makers can be empowered to make decisions about financial matters, and personal, lifestyle and medical matters. The precise powers a person can be given, and the principles they must follow when making decisions, depends on the state and territory.¹³

The instrument used to make the appointment differs between each state and territory. In some jurisdictions, the same instrument is used to appoint a substitute decision-maker for personal, lifestyle, medical and financial matters. In other jurisdictions, there are different instruments; for example, an enduring power of guardianship, for lifestyle and personal matters, and an enduring power of attorney for financial matters. In some jurisdictions, such as South Australia, a substitute decision-maker can be appointed in an advance directive.

The Australian Law Reform Commission, in its 2014 *Equality, Capacity and Disability in Commonwealth Laws Report*, recommended that Commonwealth laws and frameworks include the concept of a 'supporter'. Supporters do not make decisions on a person's behalf (like a substitute decision-maker does) but instead supports people to make their own decisions.¹⁴ At the state and territory level, Victoria has adopted the concept of a supporter role.¹⁵ In 2018, the New South Wales Law Reform Commission recommended a new framework for assisted decision-making laws in New South Wales that uses the concept of a supporter.¹⁶

Advance directives and substitute decision-makers in each state and territory

As discussed above, every state and territory recognises a form of advance directive and allows people to appoint a substitute decision-maker in case they can no longer make decisions for themselves in the future. The terminology and requirements differ between each state and territory. The Appendix provides a brief overview of the formal mechanisms in each state and territory for advance care planning.

¹³ R Carter, K Detering, W Silvester and E Sutton, 'Advance care planning in Australia: what does the law say?', *Australian Health Review*, 2016, Vol 40(4) pp 405–414.

Australian Law Reform Commission, Equality, Capacity and Disability in Commonwealth Laws (Report 124), 2014. See recommendation 4–3.

¹⁵ A support person for medical treatment decisions can be appointed under the *Medical Treatment Planning and Decisions Act 2016* (Vic) (Part 3, Division 3). A supportive attorney can be appointed to help a person make personal decisions under the *Powers of Attorney Act 2014* (Vic) Part 7. Plan nominees can be appointed under the *National Disability Insurance Scheme Act 2013* and a Nominated Person can be chosen by a mental health consumer under the *Mental Health Act 2014* (Vic) Part 3 Division 4.

New South Wales Law Reform Commission, *Report 145: Review of the Guardianship Act 1987*, 2018, recommendation 4.3.

¹⁷ This relates only to substitute decision-makers chosen by the person themselves, not those appointed by a court or tribunal or otherwise recognised under legislation.

A summary of the formal mechanisms for advance care planning is shown in the table below.

FORMAL ADVANCE CARE PLANNING DOCUMENTS							
	Advance directive	Substitute decision-maker: <i>medical</i>	Substitute decision-maker: lifestyle and personal	Substitute decision-maker: <i>financial</i>			
ACT	Health Direction	Enduring power of attorney					
NSW	Advance Care Directive	Enduring power of guardianship		Enduring power of attorney			
NT	Advance Personal Plan						
QLD	Advance Hea	Ith Directive	Enduring power of attorney				
SA	Advance Care Directive			Enduring power of attorney			
TAS	Advance Care Directive	Enduring power of guardianship		Enduring power of attorney			
VIC	Advance Care Directive	Medical Treatment Enduring pow Decision-maker		er of attorney			
WA	Advance Health Directive	Enduring power of guardianship		Enduring power of attorney			

Advance care planning in aged care

Benefits of advance care planning

There are a number of demonstrated benefits of advance care planning for those receiving aged care.

Advance care planning has been shown to reduce unnecessary transfers from a residential aged care facility to a hospital and decrease a person's level of worry and anxiety about their future. Advance care planning can also have benefits for the person's family, by improving the family's understanding of the person's wishes, and reducing stress, anxiety and depression in the surviving family by helping them prepare for a death.

Advance care planning is particularly relevant for those approaching the end-of-life. The process allows for preferences for palliative and end-of-life care to be identified, documented

_

A Brinkman-Stoppelenburg, J Rietjens and A van der Heide, 'The effects of advance care planning on end-of-life care: A systematic review', *Palliative Medicine*, 2014, Vol 28(8), pp 1000–1025 G Caplan, A Meller, B Squires, S Chan and W Willett, 'Advance care planning and hospital in the nursing home', *Age and Ageing*, 2006, Vol 35(6), pp 581–585.

D Molloy, G Guyatt and R Russo, 'Systematic Implementation of an Advance Directive Program in Nursing Homes: A Randomized Controlled Trial', *JAMA*, 2000, Vol 283(11), pp 1437–1444.

M Poppe, S Burleigh and S Banerjee, 'Qualitative Evaluation of Advance Care Planning in Early Dementia (ACP-ED)', *PLOS One*, 2013, Vol 8(4).

²⁰ JJ Rhee, NA Zwar and LA Kemp, 'How is advance care planning conceptualised in Australia? Findings from key informant interviews', *Australian Health Review*, 2011, Vol 35, pp 197–203.

K Detering, A Hancock, M Reade and W Silvester, 'The impact of advance care planning on end-of-life care in elderly patients: randomised controlled trial', *BMJ*, 2010.

and implemented.²² Advance care planning has been shown to positively influence quality end-of-life care,²³ increase compliance with a person's preferences for their end-of-life care,²⁴ and increase the likelihood that a person will die in their preferred setting.²⁵

Advance care planning can also be particularly important for people living with dementia. As the condition progresses, people with dementia have a decreased ability to make, and communicate, decisions.²⁶ Advance care planning may decrease depressive symptoms, especially for people in the early stages of dementia.²⁷

Uptake of advance care planning

Despite these benefits, the available research indicates that advance care planning may be an uncommon practice.

Research into the uptake, outcomes and utility of advance care planning in Australia is limited.²⁸ The available research suggests that the practice of advance care planning in Australia is not common, particularly when compared with other planning documents such as wills.²⁹

A 2017 Australian study assessed how many people aged 65 years or over had at least one advance directive on file. The study found a rate of 48% in residential care, 16% in hospitals and 3% in general practices.³⁰ Most of the directives were non-statutory documents. Less than 3% had a statutory advance directive outlining preferences for care, and only 11% had a statutory advance directive appointing a substitute decision-maker.³¹

These rates are significantly higher than those recorded in previous Australian studies.³² For example, a 2014 study found zero advance directives among 100 elderly patients in a tertiary

A Lovell and P Yates, 'Advance Care Planning in palliative care: a systematic literature review of the contextual factors influencing its uptake 2008–2012', *Palliative Medicine*, 2014, Vol 28(8), pp 1026–1035.

²³ K Detering, A Hancock, M Reade and W Silvester, above n 21.
A Waird and E Crisp, 'The role of advance care planning in end-of-life care for residents of aged care facilities', *Australian Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 2016, Vol 33(4).

M Silveira, S Kim and K Langa, 'Advance Directives and Outcomes of Surrogate Decision-Making before Death', New England Journal of Medicine, 2010 Vol 362, pp 1211–1218.
A Brinkman-Stoppelenburg, J Rietjens and A van der Heide, above n 18.

²⁵ H Degenholtz, Y Rhee and R Arnold, 'Brief Communication: The Relationship between Having a Living will and Dying in Place', *Annals of Internal Medicine*, 2004, Vol 141(2), pp 113–117.

V Masukwedza, V Traynor, E Smyth and E Halcomb, 'Use of advance care directives for individuals with dementia living in residential accommodation: A descriptive survey', *Collegian*, 2018, in press.

²⁷ MM Hilgeman, RS Allen, AL Snow, DW Durkin, J DeCoster and LD Burgio, 'Preserving Identity and Planning for Advance Care (PIPAC): preliminary outcomes from a patient-centered intervention for individuals with mild dementia', *Ageing Mental Health*, 2014, Vol 18(4), pp 411–424.

²⁸ Australian Government Department of Health and Ageing, above n 2, p 5.

²⁹ B White, C Tilse, J Wilson, L Rosenman, T Strub, R Feeney and W Silvester, 'Prevalence and predictors of advance directives in Australia', *Internal Medicine Journal*, 2014, Vol 44(10), pp 975-980.

³⁰ Above n 11, p 4.

³¹ Ibid, p 4.

³² The inclusion of both statutory and non-statutory advance directives may account for this: See K Detering, K Buck, R Ruseckaite, H Kelly, M Sellars, C Sinclair, J Clayton and L Nolte, 'Prevalence and correlates of advance care directives among older Australians accessing health and residential aged care services: multicentre audit study', *BMJ Open*, 2019, Vol 9.

referral hospital³³ and a 2009 study found a 5% median uptake of advance directives in selected residential aged care facilities.³⁴

The low uptake of advance directives may be explained by a lack of awareness and understanding about advance care planning in the community.³⁵ People can also be reluctant to make what are seen as binding decisions about an unpredictable future³⁶ and are concerned that advance directives cannot be changed once made.³⁷

There also seems to be a general reluctance to discuss issues around cognitive deterioration, end-of-life and death.³⁸ These can be very challenging conversations that require someone to engage with their own mortality and plan for worst case scenarios.

Improving advance care planning practice in aged care

Implementation of advance care plans

There is evidence suggesting that advance care plans are not always being implemented in accordance with the preferences set out in the document. Reasons for this may include health professionals or residential aged care facilities being fearful of litigation or conflict where the family is demanding treatment or care inconsistent with an advance care plan.³⁹ There also seems to be some confusion about the legal effect of an advance care plan⁴⁰ as well as difficulty locating or accessing advance care plans when they are needed.⁴¹

Dr Detering and colleagues identified some of the ways that uptake and implementation of advance care plans and advance directives in the aged care context can be increased.⁴² These include educating health professionals and aged care staff about advance care planning and creating a systematic method for advance care planning in residential aged care facilities. On a practical level, correct storage and filing of documents is important.⁴³

³⁷ G Yapp, C Sinclair, A Kelly, K Williams and M Agar, above n 3, p 141.

³³ F Cheang, T Finnegan, C Stewart, A Hession and JM Clayton, 'Single-centre cross-sectional analysis of advance care planning among elder inpatients', Internal Medicine Journal, 2014, Vol 44(10), pp 967–74.

³⁴ AJ Bezzina, 'Prevalence of advance care directives in aged care facilities of the Northern Illawarra', Emergency Medicine Australasia, 2009, Vol 21(5), pp 379-85.

³⁵ JJ Rhee, NA Zwar and LA Kemp, 'Uptake and implementation of Advance care planning in Australia: findings from key informant interviews', Australian Health Review, 2012, Vol 36(1), pp 98-104.

³⁶ Ibid.

³⁸ M Sellars, O Chung, L Nolte, A Tong, D Pond, D Fetherstonhaugh, F McInerney, C Sinclair and K Detering, 'Perspectives of people with dementia and carers on advance care planning and end-oflife care: A systematic review and thematic synthesis of qualitative studies', Palliative Medicine, 2019, Vol 33(3).

³⁹ JJ Rhee, NA Zwar and LA Kemp, 'Advance Care Planning and interpersonal relationships: a twoway street', Family Practice, 2013, Vol 30(2), pp 219-226. A Meller and G Caplan, 'Let someone else decide? Development of an advance care planning service for nursing home residents with advanced dementia', Dementia, 2009, Vol 8(3), pp 391-

⁴⁰ JJ Rhee, NA Zwar and LA Kemp, above n 39.

⁴¹ G Yapp, C Sinclair, A Kelly, K Williams and M Agar, above n 3, p 142. K Buck, K Detering, A Pollard, M Sellars, R Ruseckaite, H Kelly, B White, C Sinclair and L Nolte,

⁴² K Detering, A Hancock, M Reade and W Silvester, above n 21.

⁴³ Ibid.

The approach to advance care planning discussions

Research has shown the framing of the conversation is important. Conversations around end-of-life issues can be confronting, and issues outside of medical care can be even more important for some people (for example, where a person will live if their condition deteriorates⁴⁴). Discussing how a person wants to live, not how they want to die, can make the conversation easier. Instead of focusing narrowly on medical interventions, it may be better to have a broader conversation about a person's values and what is important to them in life. 45 An appropriate person to initiate and facilitate the conversation also seems to be important.46

Ideally, advance care planning is a flexible, iterative and ongoing discussion⁴⁷ involving regular review.48

It is important for family to be involved in advance care planning discussion, but Yapp and colleagues note that this should not be to the detriment of the participation of the focal person. This is particularly important for people with dementia—stigmas around the disease may mean that a person's views are ignored or not sought.⁴⁹

Advance care planning for people with dementia

Successful advance care planning takes into account the needs of people with dementia and other forms of cognitive decline. ⁵⁰ The Cognitive Decline Partnership Centre⁵¹ has identified key ways that the uptake and quality of advance care planning for people with cognitive decline can be improved. These include ensuring that:

- Advance care planning occurs as early as possible after diagnosis so the person with cognitive decline can be as meaningfully involved in the process as possible. If left too late, it may not be possible for the person to participate.⁵²
- The scope of issues covered in the advance care planning process should be wider than just medical decisions related to end-of-life. It should consider ongoing decisions relating to broader financial, lifestyle and health matters, and focus on the person's values and beliefs.⁵³

⁴⁴ G Yapp, C Sinclair, A Kelly, K Williams and M Agar, above n 3, p 141.

⁴⁵ Ibid p 144.

⁴⁶ K Detering, A Hancock, M Reade and W Silvester, above n 21. G Bollig, E Gjengedal and JH Rosland, 'They know!—Do they? A qualitative study of residents and relatives views on advance care planning, end-of-life care, and decision-making in nursing homes', Palliative Medicine, 2016, Vol 30(5), pp 456-70.

⁴⁷ M Sellars, O Chung, L Nolte, A Tong, D Pond, D Fetherstonhaugh, F McInerney, C Sinclair and K Detering, above n 38.

F Batchelor, K Hwang, B Haralambous, M Fearn, P Mackell, L Nolte and K Detering, 'Facilitators and barriers to advance care planning implementation in Australian aged care settings: A systematic review and thematic analysis', Australasian Journal on Ageing, 2019, pp 1–9.

⁴⁸ A Waird and E Crisp, above n 23.

⁴⁹ G Yapp, C Sinclair, A Kelly, K Williams and M Agar, above n 3, pp 139–140.

⁵⁰ Cognitive Decline Partnership Centre, Future planning and advance care planning: Why it needs to be different for people with dementia and other forms of cognitive decline, 2015.

⁵¹ The National Health and Medical Research Council Partnership Centre for Dealing with Cognitive and Related Functional Decline in Older People (known as the Cognitive Decline Partnership Centre) brings together clinicians, researchers, aged care practitioners, policy makers and consumers who have expertise in working with older people with cognitive and related functional

⁵² Cognitive Decline Partnership Centre, above n 50, p 5.

⁵³ Ibid, p 5.

 People with cognitive decline should be informed about prognosis and possible disease progression to help them plan appropriately for the future.⁵⁴

Conclusion

Advance care planning is a broad concept that may include conversations with health professionals, carers, family and friends. It may result in informal written documents, like a letter, or it may be crystallised into a formal directive. Each state and territory recognises a form of advance directive and allows people to appoint a substitute decision-maker in the event they lose capacity.

Essentially, advance care planning is a process of identifying preferences for future care and treatment. It is an important process that helps give people control over what happens to them, even if their decision-making or communication ability is impaired. Despite this, advance care planning is a relatively uncommon practice.

Advance care planning is particularly important for people to maintain control as they approach the end-of-life and there are ways that aged care providers can help increase uptake and implementation of advance care planning.

_

⁵⁴ Ibid, p 4.

Appendix

This appendix provides a brief overview of the mechanisms in each Australian state and territory for advance care planning.

Although an examination of issues relating to decision-making capacity is outside the scope of this paper, another difference between states and territories is the test used to assess whether a person has sufficient capacity to complete a formal advance care planning document.

Australian Capital Territory

In the Australian Capital Territory, a statutory *Health Direction* allows a person to formally record a direction to refuse, or withdraw, medical treatment.⁵⁵

A person can also complete an *Advance Care Plan Statement of Choices*. This is not a legal document, but a supporting document that can provide additional information about a person's specific wishes regarding healthcare decisions.⁵⁶

A substitute decision-maker for financial matters, and personal, medical and lifestyle matters can be appointed under an enduring power of attorney.⁵⁷

New South Wales

There is no legislation providing for advance directives in New South Wales. However, advance directives can still be made and are legally binding.^{58,59}

A substitute decision-maker for personal, medical and lifestyles decisions can be appointed under an enduring power of guardianship, ⁶⁰ and a substitute decision-maker for financial and/or property decisions can be appointed under an enduring power of attorney. ⁶¹

Northern Territory

In the Northern Territory, a person can complete a statutory *Advance Personal Plan*.⁶² This is a legal document that sets out a person's future health, financial and life choices should they be unable to make those decisions for themselves. The *Advance Personal Plan* has replaced the enduring power of attorney.

The *Advance Personal Plan* allows the appointment of a substitute decision-maker for financial, personal, medical and lifestyle matters.⁶³ It includes an optional legally-binding Advance Consent Decision about future health care, and an optional Advance Care

⁵⁵ Medical Treatment (Health Directions) Act 2006 (ACT) Part 2.

Australian Capital Territory Government, *Advance care planning*, www.health.act.gov.au, viewed 22 May 2019.

⁵⁷ Powers of Attorney Act 2006 (ACT).

⁵⁸ Advance directives in New South Wales are binding under the common law.

New South Wales Government, *Making an advance care directive*, www.health.nsw.gov.au, viewed 22 May 2019.

⁶⁰ Guardianship Act 1987 (NSW) Part 2.

⁶¹ Powers of Attorney Act 2003 (NSW) Part 4.

⁶² Advance Personal Planning Act 2013 (NT) Part 2.

⁶³ Ibid Part 3.

Statement describing a person's views, wishes and beliefs as to how they want to be treated in relation to any future health, financial or lifestyle matter. This includes questions such as:

What gives your life meaning? What do you value most in life? For example, independent, being on country/at home, being able to work, food, family etc.64

Queensland

In Queensland, a statutory Advance Health Directive directs substitute decision-makers and doctors about a person's wishes and preferences for medical treatment.

Queensland also has the option of a Statement of Choices. This is used in some Queensland health facilities, residential aged care facilities and general practices to support advance care planning conversations. The statement can guide family and health care professionals when making medical decisions for a person that cannot make or communication their own decisions. The statement focuses on a person's wishes, values and beliefs.65

A substitute decision-maker for medical related matters can be appointed under an Advance Health Directive, a substitute decision-maker for financial and/or personal and lifestyle matters is appointed under an enduring power of attorney.⁶⁶

South Australia

In South Australia, a statutory Advance Care Directive allows a person to record their wishes, preferences and instructions for future health care, living arrangements, personal matters, and end-of-life care. 67

An Advance Care Directive can also be used to appoint one or more substitute decision-makers to make decisions related to health care, residential and accommodation arrangements and personal affairs.⁶⁸ A substitute decision-maker for financial decisions is appointed under an enduring power of attorney.⁶⁹

Tasmania

Tasmania does not have legislation providing for an advance directive. However, advance directives can still be made and are legally binding.

Tasmania has developed an Advance Care Directive for Care at the End of Life form to enable people to record their wishes for care at the end-of-life, and outline their values. beliefs and preferences for treatment to maintain quality of life. This is not a statutory advance direction.70

⁶⁴ Northern Territory Department of the Attorney-General and Justice, Advance Personal Plan, www.iustice.nt.gov.au, viewed 20 May 2019.

⁶⁵ Queensland Government, *Advance care planning*, www.qld.gov.au, viewed 22 May 2019.

⁶⁶ Queensland Government, *Power of attorney*, www.qld.gov.au, viewed 22 May 2019.

⁶⁷ Advance Care Directives Act 2013 (SA).

⁶⁸ Ibid.

⁶⁹ Powers of Attorney and Agency Act 1984 (SA).

⁷⁰ Tasmania Department of Health and Human Services, *Advance care planning for healthy dying*, www.dhhs.tas.gov.au, viewed 22 May 2019.

A substitute decision-maker for personal, medical and lifestyle decisions is appointed under an enduring guardianship, and a substitute decision-maker for financial decision is appointed under an enduring power of attorney.⁷¹

Victoria

In Victoria, there is a statutory *Advance Care Directive* where a person can record general statements about values and preferences to guide future medical treatment decisions (values directive), and/or consent or refuse specific types of treatment (instructional directive).⁷²

Up to two people can be appointed as a person's 'medical treatment decision-maker', which gives those people legal authority to make medical treatment decisions on a person's behalf should they become unable to do so.⁷³

People in Victoria can also appoint a 'support person' who does not have the power to make medical treatment decisions on a person's behalf (unless they are also appointed as the medical treatment decision-maker). Rather, they can assist the person in making, communicating and giving effect to their medical treatment decisions, including by accessing health information relevant to the person's medical treatment.⁷⁴

A substitute decision-maker for financial, personal and lifestyle decisions (but not medical treatment decisions) is appointed under an enduring power of attorney.⁷⁵ A 'supportive attorney' can be appointed to help them make and give effect to decisions related to personal matters, such as access to support services, or financial matters.⁷⁶

Western Australia

Western Australia has a statutory *Advance Health Directive*⁷⁷ which allows a person to record their treatment decisions in respect of future treatment, including in relation to life sustaining measures and palliative care.

A substitute decision-maker for personal, medical and lifestyle decisions is appointed under an enduring power of guardianship, ⁷⁸ and a substitute decision-maker for financial and/or property decisions is appointed under an enduring power of attorney.

In Western Australia, a person can complete an advance care plan as a record of advance care planning discussions.⁷⁹ It is not legally binding, but is a way of informing relevant people of personal wishes that are not covered in an *Advance Health Directive* or enduring power of guardianship. They may not necessarily be health or treatment related and could include specifying who they would like as visitors and their favourite music.⁸⁰

⁷⁴ Ibid.

⁷¹ Powers of Attorney Act 2000 (Tas).

⁷² Medical Treatment Planning and Decisions Act 2016 (Vic).

⁷³ Ibid.

⁷⁵ Powers of Attorney Act 2014 (Vic).

⁷⁶ Ibid, Part 7.

⁷⁷ Guardianship and Administration Act 1990 (WA).

⁷⁸ Ibid

Western Australia Department of Health, *Advance care planning*, www.healthywa.gov.au, viewed 20 May 2019.

Western Australia Department of Health, *Advance care planning: a patient's guide*, 2017, www.healthywa.gov.au, viewed 20 May 2019.